HAWKES BAY ORIENTEERING CLUB HISTORY

* * *

MAJOR EVENTS

* * *

Table of Contents

PREFACE	4
NZOF BADGE EVENTS	5
March 1982, NZ Trial, Easter 1 Day Badge Event	5
MAY 1983, ANZ INDIVIDUAL CHALLENGE	
OCTOBER 1983, LABOUR WEEKEND NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS EVENT	
June 1984, Queen's Birthday 3 Day Badge Event	
October 1987, NZOF National Relays	
APRIL 1988, EASTER 3 DAY BADGE EVENT	
OCTOBER 1991, NZOF NATIONALS EVENT	7
January 1994, APOC – Asia Pacific Orienteering Carnival October 1996, "Blossom 3 Day" badge event	/
JULY 1997, NEW ZEALAND SECONDARY SCHOOLS CHAMPIONSHIPS	
JUNE 1999, WOA CHAMPIONSHIPS 3 DAY BADGE EVENT	
JUNE 2001, "HAWKE'S BAY WINE COUNTRY 3 DAY" BADGE EVENT	
APRIL 2002, NORTH ISLAND SCHOOLS ORIENTEERING CHAMPIONSHIPS	
NOVEMBER 2003, WOA CHAMPIONSHIPS 2 DAY EVENT	
MARCH 2005, NZOF NATIONALS EVENT	
OCTOBER 2007, "DECO DOUBLE" - CDOA & WOA CHAMPIONSHIPS	
APRIL 2011, NZOF NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS & WRE EVENT	
JANUARY 2013, OCEANIA CARNIVAL & WORLD CUP RACE 3	
OCTOBER 2015, "WOA ROCKS" - WOA CHAMPIONSHIPS	
OCTOBER 2017, NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS	17
MAJOR EVENTS	
February 1988, Ruahine Mountain Marathon	18
MAY 2008, NORTH ISLAND SECONDARY SCHOOL CHAMPIONSHIPS	
MAY 2012, NORTH ISLAND SECONDARY SCHOOL CHAMPIONSHIPS	
JULY 2013, SILVA NEW ZEALAND SECONDARY SCHOOL CHAMPIONSHIPS	
JULY 2019, NORTH ISLAND SECONDARY SCHOOL CHAMPIONSHIPS	
JULY 2021, NEW ZEALAND SECONDARY SCHOOL CHAMPIONSHIPS	
JUNE 2022, POKAPU – CENTRAL DISTRICTS CHAMPIONSHIPS	
NZOF COMPETITIONS, TRAINING CAMPS	
JUNE 1986, NZOF WORKSHOP & CONFERENCE	
JULY 1989, NZOF WORKSHOP & CONFERENCE	
SEPTEMBER 1994, NZOF COURSE SETTING COMPETITION	
DECEMBER 1996, NORTH ISLAND JUNIOR CAMP	
DECEMBER 2011, NZOF NATIONAL JUNIOR CAMP.	
HBOC TRAINING CAMPS	23
HBOC JUNIOR CAMPS	23
HBOC SUPPORTED EVENTS	24
SPRINT THE BAY	24

MINI MOUNTAIN MARATHON, LONG O. AND ROGAINE'S	25
Mt. Carlyon mini mountain marathon (1987)	25
Pukenui mini mountain marathon (1990)	25
SMEDLEY LONG O. SERIES (1992-1996)	
Omakere rogaine (1999)	
Puketitiri rogaine (2002)	
WANSTEAD "NEVIS AY DIE" ROGAINE (2004)	27
DECEMBER DASH ROGAINE (2006)	
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2009)	
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2010)	28
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2011)	28
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2013)	28
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2014)	
DEBORAH TURNER MEMORIAL ROGAINE (2015)	29
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2017)	29
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2018)	30
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2019)	30
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2020)	30
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2021)	31
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2022)	
Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2023)	31
KAWEKA CHALLENGE	32
Overview	32
EVENT ORGANISERS	
KAWEKA CHALLENGE COMPETITOR ANALYSIS	36

Preface

There are five documents making up the club history.

1. Club Officers, Cups & Trophies

This is effectively the clubs "Trophy" boards. Lists are kept of the Club Officers, Life Members and Cup / Trophy winners for each year.

Club Age Grade champions and Junior Certificates are not listed. You will need to go through the old Compass Points or Minutes of the AGM's .

2. General Timeline

Lists the club officers and committee, subscriptions and map fees, maps, equipment and highlights for each year.

(Note that the year in which a map was made may be wrong by one year.)

3. Major Events

Lists the "Major" events the club has undertaken. This includes any NZOF badge events, Course Setting Competitions, Mountain Marathons etc., plus any "special" events run by HBOC (eg) Macpac Kaweka Challenge, Smedley Long O.

4. Mapping

Lists all the maps made by the club.

5 Results

Lists all the HBOC event results, not including "major" or "badge" events.

The first attempt to record the clubs history was by Colin Tait in the mid 1980's. The four documents making up this club history were first compiled in 1999 from the following sources...

- Compass Points. There is a copy of every Compass Points magazine in the club archives.
- HBOC Minutes. The minutes for most meetings and AGM's are in the club archives. Minutes for 1977 to 1981 are incomplete. Minutes for 1982 to November 1984 are missing.
- Presidents and Treasurers reports to the AGM's held in the minutes and also separately.
- Programmes and Results for major events. The archives are missing the programmes and results booklets for most events prior to 1988.
- Colin Tait's notes on the years from 1979 to 1985.
- Members memories.

NZOF Badge Events

March 1982, NZ Trial, Easter 1 Day Badge Event

Co-ordinator Colin Tait

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{Day 1} - 27 \text{th} & \text{Warm-up event} \\ \text{Map} & \text{Gwavas} \end{array}$

Setter Dave Smith, Bob Lester

Controller

Day 2 – 28th NZOF Trial/Badge event

Map Gwavas North

Setter Brian Crawford, Roger Bee

Controller Terry Brighouse

May 1983, ANZ Individual Challenge

Co-ordinator Julie Watson

Day 1 – 14th Australia / New Zealand Challenge Map Esk Forest "The Promised Land"

Setter Maurice Lloyd, Ken Ross

Controller Michael Parker

October 1983, Labour Weekend National Championships Event

The National Championships were shared between the Taupo and Hawkes Bay clubs. Taupo club organised the National Relays on the Saturday. HBOC organised the National Individual Championship on Sunday and a badge event on the Monday.

Co-ordinator Roger Bee for HBOC events

Day 1 – 22nd NZOF Relays organised by Taupo O Club

Map Poihipi

Setter Controller

Day 2 – 23rd NZOF Team Trial

Map "The Promised Land" – Esk Forest Setter David Cooke, Brian Crawford

Controller

Day 3 – 24th NZOF Badge event

Map Gwavas

Setter David Holt, Colin Tait

Controller

June 1984, Queen's Birthday 3 Day Badge Event

Organiser

Co-ordinator Trevor Carswell

Day 1 – 2nd NZOF Badge event and NZ Team Trial Map "The Promised Land" – Esk Forest

Setter Roger Bee, James Watson

Controller

Day 2 – 3rd NZOF Badge event Map Smedley Station

Setter Brian Crawford, Ray Nicholson

Controller

Day 3 – 4th NZOF Badge event

Map Granules

Setter Stewart Hyslop, Ross Frechtling

Controller

The trophies and certificates for winners were presented by the Hastings Blossom Queen.

October 1987, NZOF National Relays

Organiser Maurice Lloyd, Stewart Hyslop

Co-ordinator Sharon Mardon
Date 26th October 1987

Map Crohane

Setter Brian Crawford & Russell Mardon

Controller Colin Tait

Taupo club ran the NZOF Individual Champs the day before this event.

April 1988, Easter 3 Day Badge Event

Organiser David Fisher

Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 2nd NZOF Badge event

Map Crohane

Setter Maurice Lloyd, Ross Frechtling

Controller Mark McKenna

Day 2 – 3rd NZOF Badge event

Map McNeil

Setter Brian Crawford, David Cooke

Controller Mark McKenna

Day 3 – 4th NZOF Badge event

Map Granules

Setter Gerard Van Veen, Tony White, Bruce Perry

Controller Mark McKenna

October 1991, NZOF Nationals Event

Organiser Sharon Mardon Co-ordinator Robin Nairn

Day 1 – 26th NZOF Short O Championship

Map Granules

Setter Maurice Lloyd, David Fisher

Controller Peter Watson

Day 2 – 27th NZOF Individual Championship

Map Mangarara

Setter Brian Crawford, Bruce Perry

Controller Ray Nicholson

Day 3 – 28th NZOF Relay Championship

Map Smedley

Setter Stewart Hyslop, Eric Dunbar

Controller

January 1994, APOC – Asia Pacific Orienteering Carnival

(HBOC organised the final 3 events of the 7 events in the series. The APOC committee was made up from members of the WOA clubs and HBOC.)

Treasurer Peter Watson

Reps HBOC Brian Crawford, Ted Sapsford, David Fisher

Event 1 - 7th Model event prior to ANZ Challenge

MapRowe RoadCo-ordinatorTed SapsfordSetterPeter Watson

Event 2 – 8th APOC Event 5 and ANZ Challenge

Map The Slump Co-ordinator Ted Sapsford

Setter Brian Crawford, David Fisher

Controller Ken Holst

Event 3 – 9th APOC Event 6 and NZOF badge event

Map Maraetotara Co-ordinator Ted Sapsford

Setter Stewart Hyslop, Alan Berry

Controller Mark McKenna

October 1996, "Blossom 3 Day" badge event

Organiser Pamela & Geoff Morrison Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 26th NZOF Badge event

Map Tangoio

Setter Brian Crawford Controller Ken Holst

Day 2 – 27th NZOF Badge event

Map Maraetotara Setter Alan Berry Controller Ken Holst

Day 3 – 28th NZOF Badge event

Map The Slump
Setter Derek Morrison
Controller Ken Holst

July 1997, New Zealand Secondary Schools Championships

Organiser Pamela Morrison

Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 18th NZSS Individual Championships

Map Tangoio East
Setter Geoff Morrison
Controller Ken Holst, Alan Berry

Day 2 – 19th NZSS Relays

Map Seafield Road (new version)

Setter Sharon Mardon Controller Ken Holst, Alan Berry

June 1999, WOA Championships 3 Day badge event

Organiser Pamela Morrison Co-ordinator Terry Russell

Day 1 – 5th NZOF Badge event Map Te Awanga Setter Geoff Morrison Controller Alan Berry

Note This event was to be the WOA Champs. But had to be cancelled

at the last minute because of flooding in the early hours of the

morning.

Day 2 – 6th WOA Short O Championship

Map Maraetotara
Setter Derek Morrison
Controller Ken Holst

Day 3 – 7th WOA Champs. and NZOF Badge event

Map Rochfort
Setter Maurice Lloyd
Controller Max Kerrison

Note This event became the WOA Champs.

June 2001, "Hawke's Bay Wine Country 3 Day" badge event

Organiser Pamela Morrison Co-ordinator Chris Howell Entries Sharon Mardon

Day 1 – 2nd NZOF Badge event

Map Arborfield
Setter Terry Russell
Controller Alan Berry

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{Day 2} - 3 \text{rd} & \quad \text{NZOF Badge event} \\ \text{Map} & \quad \text{Te Awanga} \end{array}$

Setter Geoff Morrison
Controller Max Kerrison

Day 3 – 4th NZOF Badge event

Map Rochfort
Setter Richard Lynn
Controller Ken Holst

April 2002, North Island Schools Orienteering Championships

Organiser Pamela Morrison

Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 12th NZSS Individual Championships

Map Rochford Road Setter Geoff Morrison

Controller

Day 2 – 13th NZSS Relays Map Rochford Road Setter Pamela Morrison

Controller

November 2003, WOA Championships 2 Day event

Organiser

Co-ordinator Alan Oates

Day 1 – 8th WOA Classic O Championship

Map Smedley Setter Alan Berry Controller Ken Holst

Day 2 – 9th WOA Short O Championship

Map Smedley

Setter Hamish Goodwin Controller Ken Holst

March 2005, NZOF Nationals Event

Organiser Pamela Morrison

Co-ordinator

Entries Sharon Mardon

Day 1 – 26th NZOF Sprint O Championship

Map Te Kura O Te Aute (Te Aute College)

Setter Rob McDonald Controller Max Kerrison

Day 2 – 27th NZOF Long Distance Championship

Map Whanawhana
Setter Geoff Morrison
Controller Ken Holst

Day 3 – 28th NZOF Middle Distance Badge event

Map Springvale (Smedley) Setter Chris Howell

Controller Graham Teahan

Day 4 – 29th NZOF Relay Championship

Map Smedley

Setter Hamish Goodwin

Controller Jim Barr

October 2007, "Deco Double" - CDOA & WOA Championships

Organiser Pamela Morrison

Co-ordinator

Entries Sharon Mardon, David Fisher

First use of a "true" online entries system via the internet., developed by David Fisher. Sharon received any manual entries but she then entered them into the internet based online entry system. Data could be transferred from the online system to the

SportIdent OE2003 system.

Day 1 – 20th CDOA Long distance O Championship

Map The Slump (new remap)
Setter Hamish Goodwin

Controller Ken Holst

Day 2 – 21st WOA Middle distance Championship

Map Whanawhana Setter Geoff Morrison Controller Mark McKenna

Day 3 – 21st "Deco Dash" Sprint O.
Map Havelock North Village
Setter Duncan Morrison
Controller Jack Vincent

Day 4 – 22nd WOA Long O Championship

Map Whanawhana Setter Chris Howell Controller Max Kerrison

There were problems gaining access to the Whanawhana map due to lambing. The setters/vetters weren't allowed on to the property until one week before the event.

All three days of the event were held in extremely windy, but dry, conditions. This weekend saw the first use of the new club caravan.

The Slump map was printed at 1:10,000 with contours, slope lines and knolls reduced to 80% of the standard line widths for a 1:10,000 scale map, due to the intricate contours and many small depressions and knolls.

On The Slump, the event tents were shifted off the airstrip into depressions. Three runners didn't make it back before the controls were lifted and a number of runners were charged by a mad cow, which managed to knock over one person. The club president, Hamish, went out with a stick to distract the cow while runners went past. The controls from here were needed for the Deco Dash event in Havelock North village.

On the Deco Dash event it was discovered, at a very late stage, that course 4 maps were printed for both course 4 and course 1, hence no course 1 maps. Problem was solved by Pamela scouring Hastings shops for a supply of 100gsm paper, at 4:58pm on Saturday, which she fortunately stumbled across. She was then able to use her works colour laser printer to print the course 1 maps.

At Whanawhana the event tent was put up the evening before the event, however strong winds overnight blew it down and damaged it enough to prevent it from being used. The finish for the two Whanawhana events was at a table, sheltering behind a van.

Numbers competing each day.

Course	Event1	Event2	Event3	Event4
	CDOA	WOA	Deco	WOA
	Long O.	Middle O.	Dash	Long O.
1	21	23	70	21
2	15	16	64	16
3	19	23	30	20
4	63	59	7	59
5	45	49		44
6	24	24		26
7	6	5		6
8	21	21		20
9	14	18		15
10	11	16		13
Total	239	254	171	240

NZOF National Championships & WRE event April 2011,

Organiser Jo Eames

Co-ordinator

Entries Ruth Vincent, David Fisher

> Second use of a "true" online entries system via the internet with a pc based system to administer it all, developed by David

Fisher.

Results Pamela Morrison David Fisher Maps

Day $1-22^{nd}$ NZOF Sprint Championships & IOF WRE event

Woodford-Iona (new map) Map

Setter Ross Morrison Controller Pamela Morrison IOF Adviser Ken Holst

Day $2-23^{rd}$ NZOF Middle distance Championships & IOF WRE event

Map Fire Station (new map)

Setter Aidan Boswell Controller Rolf Boswell IOF Adviser Ken Holst

Day $3-24^{th}$ NZOF Long distance Championships & IOF WRE event.

Map Waipoapoa (new map) Setter Hamish Goodwin Controller Geoff Morrison

IOF Adviser Ken Holst

Day 4 – 25th NZOF Relays Map Maraetotara Setter Derek Morrison Controller Chris Howell

A few notes...

- We set records for the number of competitors at an NZOF National Championships. 570 entered on 300 entry forms.
- HBOC was by far the largest club with 161 competitors, Wellington was next with 83 competitors.
- The organisers and helpers wore special green T-shirts, so were easily recognized in the crowd.
- All the course setting was done with the Condes course setting software.
- The course 1 & 2 maps were to IOF WRE standards, so were process offset printed. Those maps cost approx. 5 times more per A4 page than a normal laser printed colour map. (ie) \$3.00 compared to \$0.60
- The course 1 & 2 maps for elites were printed with fences on them due to IOF WRE rules, which caused a lot of dissention amongst the course setters and controllers.
- The diner was held at the Napier Golf Club, Waiohiki.
- Entries dribbled in very slowly until 1 week before the late fee deadline. We received 60% (180 entryforms) in the week prior to late fee being applied and a further 3% (9 entryforms) after late fee applied. (These figures are a count of entryforms and there were an average 1.9 competitors per entryform.)

Numbers competing each day.

Course	Event1	Event2	Event3	Event4
	Sprint O.	Middle O.	Long O.	Relays
1	48	34	28	246
2	80	15	15	84
2A	97	26	27	
3	121	48	47	
4	93	50	50	
5	23	73	41	
5A			41	
6		49	50	
7		60	52	
8		31	33	
9		7	7	
10		71	0	
11		34	40	
12		28	34	
13			33	
14			29	
Total	462	526	527	346

January 2013, Oceania Carnival & World Cup race 3

Local Organiser Phillip Herries

Co-ordinator

Entries David Fisher

Third use of a "true" online entries system via the internet with a pc based system to administer it all, developed by David

Fisher.

System adapted to link to Credit Card payments via ANZ.

Results

Maps Bryan Teahan, Wellington

Day 7 – 12th Oceania multi-day event #6

Map Smedley
Setter Mark Irwin
Controller Hamish Goodwin
NZ Controller Malcolm Ingham

Day 8 – 13th Oceania multi-day event #7 & IOF World Cup race #3

for Oceania Race#7

Map The Slump Setter Murray Harty Controller Ken Holst

Christine Brown

for the World Cup Race#3...

WC Race#3 Prologue & Chasing start

Map The Slump
Setter Derek Morrison
Controller Ken Holst
NZ Controller Malcolm Ingham

IOF Adviser Christine Brown (Tasmania)

A few notes...

- Oceania Carnival was held between January 4th and 13th 2013.
- The Carnival was organised by a committee from all the WOA clubs.
- There were Oceania Middle, Long, Sprint and Relays, plus, two warm-up and two warm-down events.
- HBOC ran the two warm-down events.
- Mixed in amongst the Oceania events were the ANZ Challenge, ANZ Schools Challenge.
- There were also three World Cup races for selected elites, Long, Sprint and a combination of Prologue & Chasing start.
- Oceania had over 900 entries with 600 at each event in HB.
- All maps were printed on waterproof 'Tyvek' paper.

October 2015, "WOA Rocks" - WOA Championships

Organiser Karen Beckman

Co-ordinator

Entries Online entries using the "enterO" system by Owen Means of

North West club.

Day 1am – 17th WOA Middle distance Championship

Map Maraetotara
Setter Devon Beckman
Controller Duncan Morrison

Day 1pm – 17th WOA Sprint Championship. Map Havelock Schools (Arataki)

Setter Ross Morrison Controller Geoff Morrison

Day 2 – 18th WOA Long O Championship

Map Fire Station
Setter Duncan Morrison
Controller Devon Beckman

There were problems gaining access to the Whanawhana map due to lambing. The setters/vetters weren't allowed on to the property until one week before the event..

Numbers competing each day.

Course	Event1	Event2	Event3
	Middle	Sprint	Long
1			
2			
3			
4			
5			
6			
7			
8			
9			
10			
Total			

October 2017, National Championships

Organiser Duncan Morrison Co-ordinator Karen Beckman

Entries Online entries using the "enterO" system by Owen Means of

North West club.

Day $1 - 20^{th}$ NZOF Sprint Championship.

MapHastings CentralSetterRoss MorrisonControllerPamela Morrison

Day 2 – 21st NZOF Middle distance Championship

Map Philips Field
Setter Devon Beckman
Controller Geoff Morrison

Day 3 – 22nd NZOF Long O Championship

Map Hautope
Setter Mark Irwin
Controller Derek Morrison

Day 4 – 23r^d NZOF Relay O Championship

Map Hautope

Setter Hugh Forlong-Ford Controller Duncan Morrison

The Sprint in Hastings Central required special traffic management planning and council approval.

The Middle distance map was originally to be the new Mangatarata (Mt. Herbert) map near Waipukurau, however the forest was pruned, much to our surprise, two months before the event. Plan B was to use the Arborfield map, courses were planned, but problems with parking and event centre location ruled it out. Plan C was to create a new map of the old Rowe Road/Phillips Bush area. Plan C worked.

Hautope was a new map, but it had it's problems with access being a narrow, no exit, shingle road and limited event centre sites.

All events required Health & Safety Plans.

Major Events

February 1988, Ruahine Mountain Marathon

Organiser Ted Sapsford Co-ordinator Peter Watson

Map Part of NZMS 260 – Sheet U21 1:50,000

Setter Ted Sapsford Controller Colin Tait

Dates 20th – 21st February 1988

Course 1 41Km and 2760m climb, 28 two man teams.
Course 2 39.5Km and 2120m climb, 56 two man teams.
Course 3 29Km and 1900m climb, 45 two man teams.
Course 4 22Km and 1060m climb, 43 two man teams.

Courses 1 & 2 were two days with an overnight camp. They started from Otupae Station on the western side of the Ruahine ranges, stopped at Ruahine Corner for the overnight camp and finished at P.Allen's property on the eastern side of the ranges, inland from Kereru.

Courses 3 & 4 were separate one day courses that started and finished at the same place each day, Day1 at Otupae and Day2 at Kereru.

The course planning took Ted Sapsford two out of every three weekends, for 21 months, to organise. Checking out potential routes then setting control sites and making any necessary map corrections. Many of these weekends required overnight stays in huts and campsites in the ranges.

The courses crossed the following properties...

Otupae Station, Mangaohane Station and Aorangi Awarua Trust - on the western side.

Ruahine Forest Park – in the middle of the ranges.

Big Hill Station, Thorn Flats and three smaller farms - on the eastern side.

May 2008, North Island Secondary School Championships

Organiser Pamela Morrison Co-ordinator Geoff Morrison

Day 1 – 2nd Individual Championships

Map Tangoio
Setter Geoff Morrison
Vetter Rolf Boswell

Day 2 – 3rd Relays
Map Tangoio
Setter Rolf Boswell
Vetter Geoff Morrison

May 2012, North Island Secondary School Championships

Organiser Jane Davidson Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 2nd Individual Championships Map Maraetotara (Te Aratipi)

Setter Mark Irwin
Vetter Hamish Goodwin

Day 2 – 3rd Relays
Map Fire Station
Setter Duncan Morrison
Vetter Chris Howell

July 2013, Silva New Zealand Secondary School Championships

Organiser Catherine Howell

Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 25th Sprint Championships

Map Splash Planet Setter Ross Morrison Vetter Chris Howell

Day 1 – 26th Individual Championships

Map Arborfield
Setter Duncan Morrison
Vetter Ken Holst

Day 2 – 27th Relays Map Gruinard

Setter Cairn Coghill
Vetter Pamela Morrison

April 2016, North Island Secondary School Championships

Organisers Cryn Russell & Karen Beckman

Co-ordinator

Day 1 – 28th Sprint Championships

MapTamateaSetterTessa RamsdenVetterMatt Radford

Day 2 – 29th Long (Individual) Championships

Map Waipoapoa Setter Chris Howell Vetter Murray Harty

Day 3 – 30th Relays
Map Te Awanga
Setter Devon Beckman
Vetter Chris Beckman

This is the first time HBOC has had maps printed on waterproof paper (Teslin).

July 2019, North Island Secondary School Championships

Organisers Cryn Russell & Sue Turley

Co-ordinator Stephan Alsleben

Day 1 – 18th Sprint Championships
Map Te Aute College
Setter James Watson
Vetter Derek Morrison

Day 2 – 19th Long (Individual) Championships

Map Hautope

Setter Hugh Forlong-Ford

Vetter Mark Irwin

Day 3 – 20th Relays
Map Hautope
Setter Murray Harty
Vetter Duncan Morrison

July 2021, New Zealand Secondary School Championships

Organisers Cryn Russell & Sue Turley

Co-ordinator

Day 1 –8th Sprint Championships

Map Splash Planet Setter James Watson

Vetter Murray Harty/Pamela Morrison

Day 2 – 9th Individual Championships

Map Awapai North Setter Kevin Harvey

Vetter Aiden Ellmers/Geoff Morrison

Day 3 – 10th Relays

Map Awapai South Setter Cairn Coghill

Vetter Hugh Forlong-Ford/Derek Morrison

June 2022, Pokapu – Central Districts Championships

Organisers Jane Herries Co-ordinator

Day 1 –24th Sprint Championships

Map EIT

Setter Kevin Harvey Vetter Derek Morrison

Day 2 – 25th Individual Championships

Map Craggy Range Setter Mark Irwin Vetter Murray Harty

Day 3 – 26th Middle Championships

Map The Gums Setter Phillip Herries

Vetter James Watson/Hugh Forlong-Ford

NZOF Competitions, Training Camps

June 1986, NZOF Workshop & Conference

Organiser Stewart Hyslop, Roger & Wendy Bee, Colin Tait

Registration Sharon Mardon

Venue

Cancelled due to lack of registrations.

July 1989, NZOF Course Setting Competition

Organiser Brian Crawford

Helpers

Map Smedley Station

September 1994, NZOF Course Setting Competition

Organiser Brian Crawford Helpers David Fisher Map Crohane

December 1996, North Island Junior Camp

Organiser Pamela Morrison

Helpers Geoff Morrison, Esther Heglin, Anita Lloyd, Jenny Russell

December 2011, NZOF National Junior Camp

Organiser Jane Herries Helpers

H MajorEvents.odt

HBOC Training Camps

HBOC Junior Camps

The club has held multi-day junior training camps at the Moore Road camp, near Havelock North, for a number of years, starting in January 2002. The club subsidises the cost, often by 50%.

HBOC supported events

Events supported by the club, but not organised or run by the club.

Sprint the Bay

A series of six sprint O. events held over three days, organised by club members Duncan & Kate Morrison and family as a fundraising exercise. (They need funds to get to JWOC in Europe.) Some of the events were also part of the national Super Series.

They created a number of new Sprint O. maps and updated some club maps to Sprint O. standard.

January 2010

Race #	Day	Map	Setter
1	Day1 – 22 Jan	Havelock North Village	Duncan Morrison
2	Day2 – 23 Jan	Arataki	Duncan Morrison
3	Day2 – 23 Jan	The Reserve (Tainui/Keirunga reserves)	Ross Morrison
4	Day2 – 23 Jan	Frimley	Kate Morrison
5	Day3 – 24 Jan	EIT (Eastren Institute of Technology)	Duncan Morrison
6	Day3 – 24 Jan	Napier Boy's High School	Ross Morrison

January 2011

Race #	Day	Map	Setter
1	Day1 – 21 Jan	Frimley	
2	Day2 – 22Jan	Te Aute	
3	Day2 – 22Jan	Maison de Sante	
4	Day2 – 22Jan	Sleeping Giant	
5	Day3 – 23 Jan	The West Side	
6	Day3 – 23Jan	EIT	

February 2012

Race #	Day	Map	Setter
1	Day1 – 04 Feb	Koponga Ride	Ross Morrison
2	Day1 – 04 Feb	Napier Central	Duncan Morrison
3	Day2 – 05 Feb	The West Side	Matt Ogden
4	Day2 – 05 Feb	Frimley	Matt Ogden
5	Day3 – 06 Feb	Sleeping Giant	Duncan Morrison
6	Day3 – 06 Feb	Arataki	Duncan Morrison

Mini Mountain Marathon, Long O. and Rogaine's

Mt. Carlyon mini mountain marathon (1987)

Organised by Peter Watson. There were 6 entries at the closing date., so Ted Van Geldermalsen (WOA), Ted Sapsford (HBOC) and Russell Perry (HTC) prodded and bullied their club members and the final result was 21 entries (34 competitors).

April 5th, 1987 Organiser Peter Watson Vetter Geoff Paget

> Map DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours Long Course 13.3Km and 563m climb, 11 entries Short Course 8.5Km and 367m climb, 10 entries

Pukenui mini mountain marathon (1990)

Organised by Bruce Perry at the suggestion of the Heretaunga Tramping club for another event similar to the event organised by Peter Watson in 1987. There were four entries at the closing date for this event, but with a little coercion this was increased to 15 entries (19 competitors). There were three courses planned, however the "C" course was scrubbed due to lack of entries. The area covered Pukenui Station and the four neighbouring farms

November 25th, 1990 Organiser Bruce Perry

Vetter Russell Perry

Map DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours Course A 14.8Km and 660m climb, 10 entries

Course B 9.3Km and 440m climb, 5 two person teams

Smedley Long O. series (1992-1996)

Another "brainchild" of Ted Sapsford. Ted always thought Smedley was a wonderful place and wanted others to enjoy it as well. When the manager of Smedley, Jerry Jeromson, asked "Why do you only use the little bit of the station at the front, when there is another 8000 acres?", Ted's imagination started working. After 17 days wandering around Smedley Station the control sites were in place and the map corrections made. The result was the Smedley Long O.. A one day event with a choice of long or short courses (ie) 30 Km to 10 Km. This was normally run as the "Smedley Medley" event. A club event or Short O. was held on the Saturday and the Long O. on the Sunday, with the option of staying the night in the shearers quarters at Smedley Station. The map for the Long O. was an updated, laminated A3 copy of the DOSLI 1:50,000 scale map with 20m contours.

November 22nd, 1992 Organiser Ted Sapsford

Co-ordinator David Fisher

Course A 23Km and 1280m climb, 10 entries. Course B 14Km and 740m climb, 15 entries.

November 21st, 1993	Organiser	Ted Sapsford	
	Co-ordinator	David Fisher	
	Course A	26Km and 1980m climb,	5 entr
	Course B	17Km and 1240m climb	5 entr

ries. 17Km and 1240m climb, 5 entries. Course B Course C 10Km and 560m climb, 15 entries.

November 27th, 1994 Organiser Ted Sapsford Co-ordinator David Fisher

Course A 27Km and 1750m climb, 4 entries. Course B 18Km and 1310m climb, 21 entries. Course C 9.5Km and 500m climb, 25 entries.

October 29th, 1995 Organiser Ted Sapsford

Co-ordinator David Fisher

Course A 18.5Km and 1360m climb, 7 entries. Course B 14.5Km and 980m climb, 30 entries. Course C 10.5Km and 640m climb, 24 entries.

December 1st, 1996 Organiser Peter Watson

Co-ordinator Doug Matheson

Note This event was a rogaine, not a Long O. as in previous

years. Competitors ran in teams of 2 people.

Course A 12 hours, 6 team entries. Course B 8 hours, 2 team entries. Course C 4 hours, 7 team entries.

Omakere rogaine (1999)

Organised by Geoff and Pamela Morrison.

December 4th, 1999 Organiser Geoff & Pamela Morrison

> DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours Map

Course A 12 Hours, 16 teams of two plus 1 lone runner

Course B 9 teams of two 8 Hours, Course C 4 Hours, 11 teams of two

Puketitiri rogaine (2002)

Organised by Geoff Morrison and Richard Lynn.

December 4 th , 2002	Organiser	Geoff Morrison
---------------------------------	-----------	----------------

DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours Map Course A 12 Hours, 15 teams of two, 4 teams of three

Course B 8 Hours, 6 teams of two, 3 teams of three Course C 4 Hours, 9 teams of two, 4 teams of three or more

Wanstead "Nevis Ay Die" rogaine (2004)

Organised by Geoff Morrison and Wayne Tristrum.

April 17 th , 2004	Organiser	Geoff Morrison
	Map	DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours
	Course A	12 Hours, 9 teams of two, 1 team of five
	Course B	8 Hours, 9 teams of two, 1 team of three
	Course C	4 Hours, 5 teams of two, 1 team of three

December Dash rogaine (2006)

Organised by Chris Howell and Alan Berry.

Start / Finish on Eland Station on the Napier-Taupo road. Map covered the area from the Napier-Taupo road to Waipunga road (west to east) and Trelinnoe Gardens to the start of the Ellis Wallace road (north to south). Event held in a very cold wet southerly conditions.

December 9 th , 2006	Organiser	Chris Howell
	Map	DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours
	Course A	12 Hours, 13 teams of two, 3 teams of three
	Course B	8 Hours, 14 teams of two, 1 team of three
	Course C	4 Hours. 15 teams of two. 3 teams of three or more

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2009)

Organisers Rob McDonald, Stewart Hyslop, Alan Berry

Area Tukituki Station, Tukituki Road.

Map Made from four DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 58 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
School	8	3	3	14
Open	10	2	2	14
Vet	7	1	9	17
Family				13

Start / Finish on Tukituki Station on Tukituki Road. Map covered the area from the Tukituki road through to the western edge of the Te Awanga orienteering map and included some of the Graggy Range orienteering map area. Event held generally fine cool conditions, ideal for rogaining.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2010)

Date May 9th, 2010

Organisers Hamish and Jaime Goodwin Area Taheke Road, Raukawa.

Map Made from four DOSLI 1:50,000 with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 53 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
School	6	12	1	19
Open	10	2	7	19
Vet	9	4	2	15
Family				

Start / Finish on Taheke farm, Hamish Goodwin's property. Map covered mainly Hamish's property and some of his brothers property. Event held generally fine cool conditions, ideal for rogaining.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2011)

Date August 7th, 2011 Organisers Chris Howell

Area Kereru Station, Kereru.

Map Made from DOSLI 1:50,000 (BK37) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 57 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
School	11	7	3	21
Open	7	4	5	16
Vet	12	4	4	20
Family				

Start / Finish at Thorn Flat on Kereru Station. Event held in cold wet and windy conditions, underfoot very very muddy.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2013)

Date November 10th, 2013
Organisers Geoff and Pamela Morrison
Area BrookBay farm, Otamauri.

Map Made from DOSLI 1:50,000 (BK37 and BK38) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 37 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior	2	1	6	9
Open	8	1	4	13
Vet	8	0	7	15
Family				

Start / Finish at BrookBay farm, Kikowhero Road, off the Taihape Road. Event held in ideal sunny cool conditions.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2014)

Date July 27th, 2014

Organisers Geoff and Pamela Morrison Area Dungallon farm, Kereru.

Map Made from DOSLI 1:50,000 (BK37) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 40 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior	10	3	1	14
Open	7	2	5	14
Vet	4	1	7	12
Family				

Start / Finish at Kereru Hall on Kereru Road, Dungallon farm. Event held in ideal sunny cool conditions, although it was cold and wet just before the start.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2015)

Date November 8th, 2015

Organisers Tim Creagh and Tim Anderson Area McNeil – Apley Rd. near Rissington

Map Made from DOSLI 1:50,000 (BJ38) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 19 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior	2		1	3
Open	2	2	2	6
Vet	5	1	4	10
Family				

Start / Finish at Rissington Station woolshed.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2017)

Date November 5th, 2017 Organisers Tim Anderson

Area Awapai, Whanawhana

Map Made from LINZ 1:50,000 (BK37 & BJ37) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 21 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior	4	2		6
Open	4		3	7
Vet	3	1	4	8
Family				

Start / Finish at Awapai woolshed.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2018)

Date July 1st, 2018

Organisers Ronan Lee & Geoff Morrison Area Kintail farm, Putorino.

Map Made from DOSLI 1:50,000 (BH39 & BH40) with 20m contours.

Courses 4 Hours, 17 teams, of 2 to 5 people.

3 Hours, 9 teams, of 2 to 5 people (Schools teams)

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior school	5	1		6
Senior school	1		2	3
Open	5	1	2	8
Vet	3	1	5	9
Family				

Start / Finish at Kintail farm woolshed.

DTM Rogaine was combined with HB Schools Rogaine.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2019)

Date October 20th, 2019

Organisers Liam Hurst & Aiden Ellmers

Area Kereru

Map Made from LINZ 1:50,000 (BK37) with 20m contours. Course 3 Hours, 35 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 82 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior school	3	5		8
Senior school	7	3	2	12
Open	2	1	4	7
Vet	3	1	4	8
Family				

Start / Finish at Kereru Community Hall. Event run on Poporangi and Tirowhenua Stations DTM Rogaine was combined with HB Schools Rogaine.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2020)

Date October 18th, 2020

Organisers James Watson & Cairn Coghill

Area Te Awarua, Te Umuopua & Hinerangi stations., Hinerangi Road, CHB

Map Made from LINZ 1:50,000 (BK37) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 16 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 2 individual runers, 41 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior school			2	2
Senior school				
Open	5	1	3	9
Vet	3		4	7
Family				

Start / Finish at Pukeawa woolshed..

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2021)

Date November 7th, 2021

Organisers Geoff Morrison & Alan Maxwell

Area Rangiora Trust, 547 Heays Access Road (inland from Tutira.)
Map Made from LINZ 1:50,000 (BH39) with 20m contours.

Course 3 Hours, 37 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 82 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Junior school	3	6	1	10
Senior school	1	1	1	3
Open	3	3	5	11
Vet	7	2	4	13
Family				

Start / Finish in open area, in the rain. No food, no drink , no prize giving due to COVID19 Level 2 rules.

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2022)

Date November 6th, 2022

Organisers Kevin Harvey & Shane Wilson

Area Otamauri Station, Otamauri, Taihape Road.

Map Orienteering type map scale 1:15,000 with 20m contours

Base map from LINZ Topo50 maps

Map drawn by Shane Wilson.

Course 3 Hours, 19 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 43 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Open	5	3	3	11
Vet	4	1	3	8
Family				

Deborah Turner Memorial rogaine (2023)

Date September 17th, 2023

Organisers Jonty Anderson & Aiden Ellmers

Area Patangata

Map Orienteering type map scale 1:22,500 with 20m contours

Base map from LINZ Topo50 maps

Map drawn by Aiden Ellmers.

Course Open entry, 3 Hours, 20 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 49 people.

School entry, # Hours, 17 teams, of 2 to 5 people, 41 people.

Teams	Male	Female	Mixed	Total
Open	4	2	3	9
Vet	3	2	6	11
School Snr	4	2		6
School Jnr	5	3	3	11

Kaweka Challenge

Overview

After the 1988 Ruahine Mountain Marathon there was one in January 1989 at Craigieburn in the South Island, prior to the 1989 APOC event. Then the Mountain Marathon events fell by the wayside. The Macpac Kaweka Challenge was set up to fill the gap. The MKC was not designed to replace the Mountain Marathons as it was primarily a track "run" with no route choice. You have to navigate to ensure you follow the correct track, but you must not deviate from the designated route. It was designed to encourage new comers to venture out into the hills under "controlled" conditions. The theme being to participate and complete the course.

The MKC was the "brainchild" of Ted Sapsford. The first event was organised by Ted from scratch in under 6 months, after the 1990 Mountain Marathon event was cancelled. It has been a joint effort by both the Hawkes Bay Orienteering club and the Heretaunga Tramping club in Hastings. The orienteers generally provide the organising skills and the tramping club the manpower. The Hawkes Bay Amateur Emergency Radio Club has provided the radio communications between the sites. The radio club has generally been paid a fixed amount and the profits split 50:50 between the orientering and tramping clubs.

The events main sponsor was Macpac from inception in 1990 to 2003, hence the event was called the "Macpac Kaweka Challenge". In 2004 the main sponsor changed to Marmot and the event was renamed the "Marmot Kaweka Challenge".

The map is a licensed copy of the relevant part of the NZMS 260 series Sheet U20 "Kaweka". Updated by the orienteering club and printed on A3 paper and laminated for protection.

Event Organisers

February 10 th , 1990	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Ted Sapsford Brian Crawford David Fisher Sharon Mardon David Harrington, Ross Berry
February 16 th , 1991	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Ted Sapsford Brian Crawford David Fisher Sharon Mardon Ross Berry, David Harrington, Nigel Brown, Mike Bull
February 15 th , 1992	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Ted Sapsford & Stan Woon Brian Crawford Kath Berry Sharon Mardon Ross Berry, Maurice Lloyd, Mike Bull, Daimer White

February 20 th , 1993	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Ross Berry Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath & Alan Berry, Geoff Clibborn, Wayne Hatcher, John Montgomerie, Stan Woon, Ted Sapsford
February 19 th , 1994	Organiser Treasurer Entries Committee	Ross Berry Brian Crawford Sharon Mardon Kath & Alan Berry, Susan Lopdell, Geoff Clibborn, Wayne Hatcher, John Montgomerie, Stan Woon, Ted Sapsford
February 18 th , 1995	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Ross Berry Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath & Allan Berry, Ted Sapsford, Geoff Clibborn, Mark Craven, Craig Shaw, Dianne Lawlar
February 17 th , 1996	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Alan Berry Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath Berry, Geoff Clibborn, Mark Craven, Craig Shaw, Wayne Lee, Ted Sapsford
February 15 th , 1997	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Alan Berry Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath Berry, Ted Sapsford, David Walsh, Neil Mora, Geoff Clibborn, Jan Hawke, Deborah Turner, Philip Mardon
February 21 st , 1998	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Alan Berry Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath Berry, Ted Sapsford, David Walsh, Neil Mora, Geoff Clibborn, Jan Hawke, Deborah Turner, Philip Mardon
February 20 th , 1999	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Philip Mardon Brian Crawford Susan Lopdell Sharon Mardon Kath Berry, Ted Sapsford, David Walsh, Neil Mora, Geoff Clibborn, Jan Hawke, Deborah Turner, Philip Mardon

February 19 th , 2000	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Max Kerrison & Alan Berry Kath Berry Susan Lopdell Doug Matheson Kath Berry, Robyn Madden, Doug Matheson, Philip Mardon, Lex Smith, Robert Wallace, David Fisher, Deborah Turner
February 17 th , 2001	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Max Kerrison Doug Matheson Chris Bennett / Josie Boland-Bristow Doug Matheson Robyn Madden, Philip Mardon, Lex Smith, Erica Hobbs, Robert Wallace, Deborah Turner
February 23 rd , 2002	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Max Kerrison Doug Matheson Josie Boland-Bristow Doug Matheson Robyn Madden, Philip Mardon, Erica Hobbs, Deborah Turner, Ted Sapsford,
February 22 nd , 2003	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Max Kerrison Max Kerrison Josie Boland-Bristow Sharon Mardon Robyn Madden, Andrew Taylor, Erica Hobbs, Deborah Turner, Sue Lopdell, Randall Goldfinch, Alan Berry (Safety).
February 22 nd , 2004	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Max Kerrison Lex Smith Catherine Howell Sharon Mardon Andrew Taylor, Deborah Turner, Robyn Madden, Sue Lopdell, Erica Hobbs, Randall Goldfinch, Doug Matheson Alan Berry (Safety).
February 26 th , 2005	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Doug Matheson Lex Smith Catherine Howell Sharon Mardon Deborah Turner, Erica Hobbs, Randall Goldfinch, Jim Hewes, Ross Berry (Safety Coordinator & Database), Alan Berry (Safety), David Fisher (Maps)

February 25 th , 2006	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Doug Matheson Lex Smith Catherine Howell Sharon Mardon Robyn Madden, Sue Lopdell, Deborah Turner, Erica Hobbs, Randall Goldfinch, Jim Hewes, Ross Berry (Safety and Database) Alan Berry (Safety), David Fisher (Maps)
	Tionorary	Alan Berry (Salety), David Fisher (Waps)
February 24 th , 2007	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Doug Matheson Lex Smith (none) Sharon Mardon Robyn Madden, Sue Lopdell, Alan Hughes, Deborah Turner, Tim Anderson, Christine Snook, John Lane, Jim Hewes, Peter Brown, Norris Cox, Randall Goldfinch, Ross Berry (Safety) & Database)
	Honorary	Alan Berry (Safety)
February 23 rd , 2008	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee	Tim Anderson Lex Smith Louise Anderson Sharon Mardon Alan Hughes, Deborah Turner, Christine Snook, Doug Matheson, Norris Cox. Alan Berry (Safety)
February 28 th , 2009	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Tim Anderson Lex Smith Louise Anderson Sharon Mardon Doug Matheson, Alan Hughes, Christine Snook. Alan Berry (Safety), David Fisher (online entry system)
February 22 nd , 2010	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Tim Anderson Lex Smith Louise Anderson Jane Herries Susan Lopdell (Personnel), Robert Wallace (AREC). Alan Berry (Safety), David Fisher (online entry system) Doug Matheson (Quartermaster), Sharon Mardon (Banking)
February 22 nd , 2011	Organiser Treasurer Secretary Entries Committee Honorary	Tim Anderson Lex Smith Louise Anderson Jane Herries ? Alan Berry (Safety), David Fisher (online entry system) Doug Matheson (Quartermaster

(The 2011 event was the final Kaweka Challenge event.)

Kaweka Challenge Competitor Analysis

Year		Courses										Entries	Competitors
	0	1	2		3 4		4	5			6		
	solo	pair	solo	pair	pair	solo	pair	solo	pair	triple	solo		
1990		63		71	19							153	306
1991		47		93	42							182	364
1992		39		87	50							176	352
1993	34	29		81	33							177	320
1994	26	26		64	38							154	282
1995		solo											
	21	48		67	44							180	291
1996					solo								
	11	27		46	52		45					181	272
1997		34		32	75		51	38				230	313
1998		19		34	77		47	76				253	334
1999		39	26	29	84		38	44				260	327
2000		28	20	23	83		38	39				231	292
2001		23	21	18	96		35	50				243	296
2002		51	14	19	104		35	82				305	359
2003		32	12	22	111		30	81				288	340
2004		34	13	25	80		24	85				261	310
2005		42	16	16	110		29	138				351	395
2006		28	9	10	73	10	16	84				230	256
2007		New course 6 was the old course 5 solo.											
		24	8	7	77	16	21	18	4	2	91	268	304

H_MajorEvents.odt Page 36 18/09/23